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Good Morning Mr. Chairman and committee members. Thank you for holdmg this
hearing today on Assembly Bills 97, 98 and 99.

There is some good news on the issue of drunk driving: Since 1990 in Wisconsin,
alcohol-related crashes have declined 61 percent. To me that shows we can make
progress in making our roads safer from impaired drivers. But there’s still plenty of bad
news as well. In 2015 the Department of Transportation reported 5,174 alcohol-related
crashes and 2,872 injuries in Wisconsin in alcohol-related crashes in Wisconsin. That
amounts to over 14 crashes and nearly eight injuries every single day.

Also in 2015 there were 190 fatalities in alcohol related crashes. Taken together, a
person was killed or injured in an alcohol-related crash every 2.9 hours on Wisconsin
roadways. In some cases it was the impaired driver who died, but in many cases it was
an innocent victim. To me that’s unacceptable. Many, many families in our state have
been devastated by drunk drivers. You will hear from some of them today.

I will summarize the three bills you are considering today, beginning with Assembly Bill
98, which does not change current law in Wisconsin, but rather correct a serious loophole
in 2009 Wisconsin Act 100. Under that law, any driver convicted of first offense OWI
with a Blood Alcohol Content (BAC) of 0.15 or higher, and all repeat offenders, must
have an ignition interlock device installed on his or her vehicle.

Current law requires that the interlock device be installed at the time the person’s driver
license is reinstated, and must remain on the automobile until the order expires. The
problem is that some drivers choose to drive before their license is reinstated, and if
stopped for a traffic violation, the driver will only be cited for driving without a license
- and not the more serious offense of driving without an interlock.

AB 98 corrects this loophole by requiring that any driver requiring an interlock device
cannot drive any vehicle not equipped with the device from the time of conviction until
the order expires. The penalty for those convicted of driving without the interlock will
remain the same as under current law. The bill also lets the judge set when the interlock
device has to be installed, so that people will not be charged for the interlock device in
the event they are not capable of driving an automobile. AB 98 has a simple amendment
that makes absolutely clear we are closing this loophole. /

Assembly Bill 99 increases the mandatory minimum sentence for 5™ or 6" offense OWI
from six months to 18 months incarceration. This would bring the mandatory minimum
more in line with the minimums for 7%, 8% and 9 offenses, which are three years, and
would also align more with the maximum possible penalty for 5 and 6™ offense, which
currently is 10 years incarceration.
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AB 97 imposes a mandatory 5 years for committing homicide while OWI. Currently the
maximum penalty for homicide while OWI can range from 25 to 40 years depending on
the circumstances. However, there is no mandatory minimum.

To be honest, I think 5 years is not a strong enough penalty, and I believe most judges
agree with me. That’s because a majority of the time the sentences handed out for
homicide while OWI exceed five years. However, I have heard of enough instances in
which the sentence may be as little as one or two years. This is an outrage.

AB 97 does allow a judge discretion in cases where the person killed was a passenger in
the drunk driver’s car. In those cases, if the judge finds that the best interests of the
community would be served he can sentence for less than 5 years, as long as the judge
puts those reasons in writing. ‘

I understand that OWI is a complicated problem often involving addiction, and we are
not going to solve the problem by simply passing tougher laws. However, I believe that
enforcing tougher penalties is a part of the solution, and it’s a part the legislature can
work on.

There are plenty of alternatives to driving drunk, including safe ride programs, designated

drivers and public transportation. There’s no law against driving, or drinking to excess.
But when the two are combined the results can be deadly.

My goal in introducing this legislation and other bills I have authored is not to incafcerate

more people or impose higher fines. It’s simply to make our roads safer. I hope that’s a
goal we can all agree on.

Again thank you for considering theses bill today. I would be glad to answer any
questions.
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Thank you, Chairman Spiros and committee members for holding a public hearing today on Assembly Bills 97,
98, and 99. To save the committee time and allow others to provide testimony, I will testify on all three bills at
once. The bills before you today involve Wisconsin’s Operating While Intoxicated (OWT) laws.

Getting behind the wheel and driving while intoxicated is a serious problern we face in Wisconsin. According to

statistics provided by the Department of Transportation, in 2015 alone we had almost 24,000 OWI convictions. I

am sure this number would be even larger if we were to factor in the number of individuals who drove intoxicated

but were never caught. In the past, I have worked to address this chronic abuse of driving while intoxicated by

working on legislation to provide harsher penalties, while also expanding access to treatment for these

individuals. Due to some of these measures, the state of Wisconsin has continued to see a decrease in overall OWI
convictions.

Despite our advances in fighting OWI abuse in Wisconsin, there is still more work to be done. Unfortunately,
there are instances where an individual’s irresponsible act kills someone. In some of these cases, the driver is only
incarcerated for two or three years. Assembly Bill 97 creates a mandatory minimum of five years for these
instances. When someone takes the life of another, they must be given a sentence that provides justice for the
family members who have lost a loved one.

Even though we have seen a decrease in overall OWI convictions in the past few years, one group of individuals
that have seen an increase in convictions is 5™ and 6™ OWI offenders. OWI offenders in this category are at
minimum required to be incarcerated for six months. It is my hope that Assembly Bill 98 will deter individuals
from getting behind the wheel intoxicated by increasing the mandatory minimum to 18 months in prison. With the
expansion of treatment and diversion programs and other alternatives, it is my hope that Assembly Bill 98 will
never have to be used.

The last bill before you today, Assembly Bill 99, closes a loophole in the state’s ignition interlock law. Currently,
first-time OWI offenders whose blood alcohol concentration is 0.15 or higher, and all repeat OWI offenders are
required to install an ignition interlock on an automobile registered to them. The law requires that the interlock
device is in place on the automobile at the time the driver’s license is reinstated and must remain on the
automobile until the order expires. However, there is a loophole in current law. Some OWI offenders break the
law by driving before their license is reinstated. If this occurs and they are subject to a traffic stop, they will be
cited for driving without a valid license, but will not face the more serious offense of violating the court order
concerning the ignition interlock. This bill will close the loophole, and the individual will now be cited for driving
without the ignition interlock.

I want to thank Representative Ott for his leadership on OWI legislation. It has been a pleasure continuing to
work with him on this important matter. Thank you again, Mr. Chairman and members for listening to testimony
on Assembly Bills 97, 98, and 99.

I hope to have your support for these important bills.
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Fiscal Estimate Narratives
Rep. Goyke 3/22/2017

LRB Number 17-1384/1 Introduction Number AB-0099 Estimate Type Original

Description
Committing a fifth or sixth offense related to operating a vehicle while intoxicated and providing a criminal penalty

Assumptions Used in Arriving at Fiscal Estimate

Under current law, a person who is convicted of operating a vehicle while under the influence of an
intoxicant (OWI), with a detectable amount of a restricted controlled substance in his or her blood, or
with a prohibited alcohol concentration for a Fifth or a Sixth time is guilty of a felony. Under current
law, a person who commits a 5th or 6th offense OW1 is guilty of a Class G felony and may be fined up to
$25,000, imprisoned for up to ten years, or both. Under current law, a person who commits a 5th or 6th
offense OWI must be fined at least $600 and imprisoned for at least six months.

Under current law, if a person is sentenced to imprisonment for a felony, he or she is sentenced to serve
a portion of his or her sentence incarcerated in prison (period of confinement) and a portion of his or
her sentence under extended supervision in the community.

Under this bill, a person who is convicted of 5th or 6th offense OWI must be sentenced to a period of
confinement of at least 18 months.

Population Estimates:

For purposed of this fiscal estimate, Rep. Goyke used conviction data related to OWI 5th and 6th
convictions occurring during 2014 and 2015.

In 2014, there were 463 OWI 5th convictions and 218 OWI1 6th convictions
In 2015, there were 491 OWI 5th convictions and 223 OWI 6th convictions

Under current penalty structures for these offense, a minimum of 6 months confinement must be served.
Accordingly, during 2014 and 2015 the minimum number of months served was as follows:

In 2014, a minimum of 2,778 months (463 X 6) for 5th offense OWI and 1,308 months (218 X 6) for 6th
offense OWI were served. Together in 2014, the total minimum number of months served was 4,086
months (2,778 + 1,308).

In 2015, a minimum of 2,956 months (491 X 6) for 5th offense OWI and 1,338 months (223 X 6) for 6th
offense OWI were served. Together in 2015, the total minimum number of months served was 4,294
months (2,956 + 1,338).

For 2014, 4,086 months equals 340 (4,086 / 12) years of confinement - or - 340 individuals serving one
year of confinement. Using FY 2015 cost of one year of confinement in state prison at $32,800, the cost
of the six month mandatory minimum was $11,152,000 (340 X $42,800).



For 2015, 4,294 months equals 358 (4,294 / 12) years of confinement - or - 358 individuals serving one
year of confinement. Using FY 2015 cost of one year of confinement in state prison at $32,800, the cost
of the six month mandatory minimum was $11,742,400 (358 X $32,800).

This bill triples the mandatory minimum confinement period to 18 months, requiring confinement in
state prison rather than local county jails. The costs listed above would triple.

For 2014, an 18th month mandatory minimum would cost $33,456,000, an increase of spending of
$22,304,000.

For 2015, an 18th month mandatory minimum would cost $35,227,200, an increase of spending of
$23,484,800.

Sentencing Assumptions:

Representative Goyke used only the mandatory minimum when calculating the costs associated with the
penalty increase. Because a' mandatory minimum sentence strips the judicial branch of discretion, these
estimates are sound, as the 18 month prison sentence will be the lowest allowable by law.

The estimates do not take into consideration that many defendants will likely receive a sentence greater
than the mandatory minimum, which would increase the cost of the bill.

DOC Adult Institutions:

The DOC would see an increase to its inmate population of several hundred new inmates by the end of
the first full year after enactment of this legislation. Once populations are fully annualized, the DOC
would see a permanent increase to current populations of several hundred additional inmates.

If the number of 5th and 6th offense OWI offenders remains at 2014-2015 levels, the DOC may receive
between 500-750 new prisoners each year. That population increase is more than the entire population
of Prairie du Chein prison and roughly the entire population of Columbia Correctional prison.

According to DOC’s fiscal estimate for Assembly Bill 97, the following information is critical to this fiscal
estimate as well:

“DOC DAI facilities are at capacity and the Department is utilizing contract beds space in county jails. As
of February 10, 2017, 185 county beds are being utilized to house DOC inmates.”

In other words, DOC institutions are already over capacity. The additional population increase could not
be accommodated in existing DOC facilities.

Summary:

This bill would increase DOC spending by upwards of $20,000,000 each year. That assumption leaves
out the possible need to construct a new prison to accommodate the population, the need to contract
with counties for space, or the AODA treatment needs for the offenders and the staff to facilitate those
programs.

Proponents will argue the increased penalties will deter future OWI crimes, but even if the number of
5th offense and 6th offense OWI convictions are cut in half, the fiscal impact is substantial, especially in
light of the current overcrowding in DOC facilities.
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1 THE COURT: T will call the matter of State of £
2 Wisconsin versus Heather D. Schmidt, Case . No. 14-CF-49,
3 She's here represented by Attorney Nielsen. The
4 State is representéd by District Attorney Snider.
5 This matter was set for sentencing today. Are
6 counsel prepared to proceed?
7 MR.‘SNIDER: Yes, Your Honor.
8 MR. NIELSEN: Yes, Judge.
9 THE COURT: The State is in compliance with
10 victim notification consultation?
11 MR. SNIDER: Yes, we are, Your Honor.
12 THE COURT: Have counsel both received the
13 | .. _presentence investigation? —— - T B
14 MR. SNIDER: Yes.
15 MR. NIELSEN: Yes.
16 THE COURT: Are there any corrections or
17 additions that need to be noted for the record?
18| "7 MR, SNIDER: None here. 7
19 . MR. NIELSEN: No, Judge.
20 THE COURT:— Dees—anyore—wish—to present any
21 evidence of any kind?
22 : MR. SNIDER: Your Honor, I just wént to make
23 sure the Court has received the same written statements as
24 counsel.
25 THE COURT: Go ahead. {j
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11
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MR. SNIDER: Bonnie Thorne, Dylan's grandmother,
Zachary Thorne, A

THE COURT: Just do one at a time, because I was
frankly concerned I was missing some statements. They're
not in the file, and I thought I remembered seeing some
come in. I have one from a Bonnie Thorne.

MR. SNIDER: Okay. We have Zachary Thorne.

THE COURT: That I don't have. I know I
remembered seeing it. I called the clerk this morning,
because it wasn't in the file.

MR. SNIDER: But you have seen it?

THE COURT: 1I've seen it and read it.

14
15
16

17

18

19

HR- SNIDER:- You-can-have mine if you Tike.

THE COURT: It probably wouldn't hurt to refresh
my recollection. Have you seen that Attorney Nielsen?

MR. NIELSEN: Yes., Attorney Snider andVI went
through the checklist. T

'MR. SNIDER: Tami Thorne.

THE COURT: All of those. But as T said, I

20

called the clerk's office beecavse—tt—wasTot—iH tThe tile-

21

22

23

24

25

this morning.
MR. SNIDER: But you have seen it?
THE COURT: I've seen them.
MR. SNIDER: Well, I'm going to give you them if

you want to refer to them during sentencing. And I also
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just received an e-mail from some foundry personnel on the
defendant's behalf.

THE COURT: Mr. Nielsen did just provide thét to
me as well.

| MR. SNIDER: And other than the written

statements, Dylan's aunt and godmother Tami would like to
address the Court followed by his mother Elizabeth.

THE COURT: Okay.

MR. NIELSEN: And then I just have one witness.
I don't know what particular order, how you want to
proceed, but I just have one witness.

THE COURT: Witness in terms of you're

anticipating being-sworn?

14

15

16

17

19

MR. NIELSEN: Yeah. I think it's just easier
for me to do it that way with hér.

THE COURT: Well, perhaps we may as well take
that witness first and then move on to the State's
witnesses afterwards.  Call your first witness. |

MR. NIELSEN: Judge, T would call

20

Sondra Reierson to the stand-

21

22

23

24

25

THE COURT: Come forward, ma'am, and remain
standing.

THE CLERK: Raise your right hand, state your
name and please spell it for the record.

THE WITNESS: Sondra Reierson, S5-0-N-D-R-A,

AT
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2 ~ SONDRA REIERSON, being first duly sworn by the
3 clerk, testified as follows:
4 DIRECT EXAMINATION BY MR. NIELSEN:
5 Good morning.
6 Good morning.
7 May I call you Sondra?
8 Yes.
9 Sondra, you have a son by the name of Matthew.
10 Correct?
11 \Yes, I do.
12 And he's an adult; right?
13| Yes, he is - e )
714 How old is Matt?
15 You put me on the spot. He's like 32, 33. T can't
16 remenmber.
17 A grownup?
18 He's a grownup. ‘
19 And how many children-does'yOur‘son Matt have?
20 He has two
21 And what are their names?
22 Matthew, Jr., we call him M.J., and Kira.
23 And Kira is a daughter that Matthew has with Heather
24 Schmidt. Correct?
25 Yes.




1 0. This is Heather Schmidt seated to my left; correct? €”T
2 A. Yes. )
3 Q. At one point your son Matt and Heather were in a

4 relationship. 1Is that right?

5 A. Yes:; that is correct.

6 Q. Been on again/off again over the years?

7 A. It has been; yes.

8 Q. Prior to'you meeting Heather through your son,

) Matthew, did you know Heather?
10 A. No, I did not.

11 Q. So, fair to conclude that your knowledge and

12 relationship with Heather has grown from her

Mm_w_wadm"WJSW#mﬂfAmﬂreia%ienshipmwithwyéur“SGH Matthew? {;ﬁ

14| A. Yes,
15 0. Is Heather the mother, biological mother of M.J.?

16| A. No; she's not.

17 Q. Over the years how would you describe Heather's role |

_ s 'wih#ij:Téwlifé?rw T T e fmm e e

191 B. Heather came into M.J.'s life at--he was apprbximatcly
290 six months eld—Anrd—she—hasbeen the s5T3d mother

21 figure through all this time. M.J. is eight years old
22 at this time. So, he calls her mom. She is that
23 stability as far as that mother figure.

24 0. And that relationship has been forged even

25 | notwithstanding the fact that there's no biological




relationship?

Yes.

In periods of time when your son Matt ang Heather have
been off, so to speak, has Heather maintained that
motherly role to M.J.?

Very much so. She has gone, you know, through the
effort to ensure that he gets to spend time with her
to maintain that mom connection.

I'm not asking you to identify M.J.'s biological
mother by name, but as M.J.'s grandma, which yoﬁ are--
Un hum (indicating the affirmative).

-—how would you describe M.J.'s relationship with his

own-bioe iog'if:a}-mom e

It's very hit and miss. There have been long periods
of time. She's supposed to get him every other
weekend, and there were long periods of time where she
does not take adzgntage of thatl S0, there has been a
lot of emotidnél'upheaVéi}rbeééﬁséiéhé expeéfétiéﬁ”r

that he was going to be s ending time with her didnlt
g9 g P J 1

happen Sor—as—a—family—whetier e enden Up coming
to our house that weekend or staying home we've had
to, you know, try to, you know, make it okay, so to
speak.

In your opinion has Heather been the more stable

motherly figure to M.J. than his own biological mom?




1 A. Definitely. *glﬁﬁ
2 Q. Do you know how many biological children Heather has? .
3 A, Biological children, four. Five with Kira.
4 Q. So,lin.your experiences has or does Heather treat M.J.
5 differently than her five biclogical children?
6 A. No.
7 Q. It's like he'é one of‘her kids?
8 A. Yes. Very much so.
9 Q. And this is, again, even the case when maybe Matt and
10 Heather's relationship isn't going well or they're not
11 evén together?
12 A. Yes,
uﬁ__"vémﬂwf_ulad_MQT~~~Is~this~theﬂoniy child;, non-biological child that you ;;% 7
14 know that Heather has sort of cared for as her own? Egy'
15 A, No. There's another older young lady from Heather's
16 previous marriage that was not her biological who she
17 treats as her own. She has attended, you know, fami}y -
18| functions afmdﬁirho£gé;réﬂgig£ﬁééﬂg£Aéﬁf ﬁouse and
19 . everything too. So, she’s, you —know,—censidered—part
20 of her famity-
21 Q. As M.J.'s grandmother do you apéreciate the role that
22 Heather has taken in M.J.'s life?
23 A. Very much so. I think he would have been struggling a
24 lot more with some of his behavioral opportunities.
25 If it hadn’'t been that Heather was that constant and (;:




having the temperament to be able to talk him through
some of his behavioral opportunities.

MR. NIELSEN: Nothing further, Judge.

THE COURT: Mr. Snider.

MR. SNIDER: Nothing. Thank you.

THE COURT: You may step down then, ma'amn.
You have no other witnesses then?

MR. NIELSEN: That's correct.

THE COURT: You have some individuals who
wish to make statements?

MR. SNIDER: Yes.

TAMI THORNE: Hi, Your Honor. Dylan John

15
16
17
18

19

Thorne was my nephew and godson. I-was there the dayrf
he was born and helped his parents Tim and Liz named
him. I loved beihg anraunt tbrbylanméﬁdﬂfo my other
nieces and nephews. I was also there the day when
Dylan's parents got the news that Dylan was killgd in

a crash.

Just that morming—I-was—with Dyram's mom, and

20

21

22

23

24

25

she—wastalking to Dylan, and he was trying to learn
how to do laundry. So, she was coaching him through
that. And he sharéd with us that he passed his
accuplacer at Fox Valley Tech, and he was now enrolled
in the criminal justice program.

As a family we were celebrating this for
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11

12

13

Dylén. Our whole family at the time was on vacation
up in Hayward, five hours away. And Dylan was not
able to come with us because he had to work. We were
going to be gone for two. weeks camping, and after the
first week of camping Dylan was goihg to try to make
it up on that weekend and join us for a couple of
days. We always went on vacations together as
familieé. -We were very close.

Just a few hours after we had found the news
of Dylan and passing his accuplacer and all, we were
so proud, we were notified of the crash. Our world as

we knew it would never be the same.

14

15

16

17

“1g]

19 |

 now.

— Dylan.~—DyTran~had & smilé that would light up
a room. People often commented on his million-dollar
smile. And he had a personality that could win anyone

over. He just had a gift. He gave the best hugs

ever, and I would give anything to have a hug from him

As Dylan grew up we celebrated birthdays,

20

21

22

23

24

25

watched—him—play—basebalibasketbars fooctball, went
on vacations together and everything in between. I
wés always so proud of him and so proud of being his
godmother. I loved watchiﬁg him play sports. 1It's
something that we definitely shared together. We both

have a competitive fire in us, and there was always

10
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times where we woﬁld get the basketball out and play
each other on the court, trying to school each other
on our moves that we had mastered.

July 18th of 2012 rocked my world and my
family's. When we were notified of what had happened
we tried to get all of our troops together. And my
husband and I had tq figure out how do we comfort
Dylan's parents, Dylan's brother, ou£ children,
Dylan's cousins, Dylan's grandma. How do you comfort
them? How do you comfort parents when they have lost
their son at such a young age? What do you say? What
do you do? All we can do is be there with them.
~— My husband and 1 weré with Dylan's parents
all the way through the pfocess of them planning his
funeral. We were with his parents the first time they
saw him at the funeral_home. As we entered that

funeral home I can still see him to this day, lying

lifeless. Noﬁhing we could do, nothing we could say

could bring him back. I wanted to hug Dylan so -bad

20

21
22
23

24

25

but—couldntt—Hejust—tatdthere. A5 we helped Tinm
and Liz plan their son's funeral we had some very
difficult decisions to make.

And I don't know how Tim and Liz have been
abie to stay as strong as they have throughout all of

this. This is their 18-year-old son who had just

11
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17

g

19

graduated high school, just gotten into Tech, had his
whole life ahead of him. He never had a chance to
discover the world. He never had a chance to be a
parent, to be a good role model to his children,
because he was robbed of that part of his life. Tim
and Liz will never see their son Dylan get married.
They'1l1l nevef have grandkids from Dylan. Nothing.
Tim and Liz were robbed éf their son. Derek
was robbed of his brother. His grandma was robbed of
her grandson. My children were robbed of their
cousin. My husband and I were robbed of our nephew.

This has been a very difficult time for us.

i R ¢ o (61 VA o Yo} words, no acts can bring Dyian

back. I do know this though. That July 19th of 2012

a decision could have been made to have changed this

outcome. Heather Schmidt made the decision that day

to consume alcohol and get behind the wheel. Sh?,??de,
"hthafrchdiéé:--DYiaﬂwHéa”héiéﬁoiee iﬁméh;s matter.

He had no prior things-against—him-

)

B R~

20
21
22
23
24

25

Nething—He was a good boy. And in one poor decision
that may or may not have been made several times
before, Heather decided to get behind the wheel and
drive, and that day she decided to take Dylan's life.
She sits here today and is able to see her children.

The only thing we have left are pictures.

12
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The love that there is for this young man has
come out of the walls. We have found people that have
our backs more than evér before, and we appreciate all
of them and all of their support through this,

I pray for our healing, and T pray that other.
families do not need to gorthrouéh this. And I pray
that our family can start healing and that my son, who
Dylan was his best friend, will be able to actually
start talking about Dylan and celebrating the short

life that he did have, and that my daughter will be

able to continue moving on without her rock, that

Dylan's brother as he looks at getting married will be

able~tofiguré out how to fill -the hole of his brother

not being able to be there at his wedding. And I pray

for Tim and Liz. No matter what we do we can't bring
their son back. No words can comfort. There's just
no woxrds.

So we are here today, Your Honor, to put the

decision into vour hands_as to what's going—tobe
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dore——And—Tpray that you have comfort in your
decision making. Thank you.

THE COURT: Mr. Snider, we didn't catch her
name.

MR. SNIDER: Tami Thorne.

ELIZABETH THORNE: Your Honor, my name is

13
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~—————————-The-day-Dylan—died I died too. It has been a

Elizabeth Thorne. T go by Liz. Dylan Thorne is my son.
Now he's my angel. I don't even know where to begin.

Dylan was compassionate, caring, funny, cared

 deeply for his friends, his family and anybody else that

he came into contact with. He loved sports, and I was his
biggest fan. I loved to watch him out on that football
field. I would make my husband drive us to.the football
field so we could see him get off the bus.

He had a smile that would just melt my heart. I
could never stay angry with him. Dylan was my life. He
was my baby. We had the connection we were both thé

youngest of our family.

constant struggle to get through each day. I pray to God
every day for Strength, energy, patience and courage,

The only thing that keeps me going is my husband and my

other son Derek. I try to be strong for fhem, but inside

I'm an emotional wreck. I used to be a happy, carefree

person. 1I've changed, and I don't even like—who—TFhgve
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become L don'ttelerate—a—tot—oF things like T used to.
I was told I had a lot of patience, and my ?atienée has
been wearing thin throughout this whoie thing.

It has been over three years of hell for me and
my family. Birthdays, anniversaries and holidays are very

hard. Everyone wishing everyone else a happy birthday,

14



10

11

12

15

16

17

photo is of him and his firstbest friend that he had met

happy anniversary, photos on Facebook of their families, I
just go through more pain. It's very hard to see that,
because I know our family will never have that again with
Dylan. | | |

Seeing all of his friends on their way to
college and getting én with their life is also a constant
struggle, knowing that Dylan will never be able to do
anything. Gatherings are supposed to bé happy, but those
bring me pain. I just want my Dylan back.

He wasn't even out of high school for two months
when he was killed. We'will never have any more photos of

Dylan other than his last graduation picture. The one

when we moved to Iola. And at gréduation I was so happy

'fo see that those two were walking down the aisle

together. And as you can see, they were hand in hand.
Dylan will never be the best man in his brother's

wedding. Dylan will never be an uncle, never be a father,

a-husband—never—knowwhattrue love 1s. He had his whole
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11fe ahead of him,

The pain hurt so bad that at night at times when
I've gone to bed I have told God that I am not afraid to
die. I wantlto be with Dylan again. But T don't want my
husband and Derek to hurt either. So, I have wished that

God would take us all so we could be a family again.

15
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I can't take Derek's pain away. After we had J
the news and made the four-hour trek back home, Derek was Q
still iﬁ denial that his brother was dead. When we pulled
in the driveway and I got out of the car Derek ran to me
crying and said, "It should have been me.” And I told
him, "No." Where the crash happened, Derek has to drive
by it every day on his way to work. Derek was caught
after the crash had happened, because Dylan worked second
shift whére we work. Dylan worked second shift, Derek was
on first. .Derek was on his way home and had to get

rerouted.. He didn't even know his brother was killed in a

crash.

And, _Your-Honox —hot-that-I-havea— sayin her ] T
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" public for the last three years and running into her is

sentence and others may not think it's fair, but I would
be overjoyed to see her incarcerated for ten years. I
pray to God that she does not do what she did to our

family to another young family. With her being out in

extremely painful. I pray to God that she does not get

20

behind the wheel after d]"'ihkihg :gain apd—eagse Dumebody

21

22

23

24

25

else more pain.

‘She is still able to see her loved ones no
matter what length of time she ends up serving. Even
after serving the years that you give her she will be able

to spend the rest-of her life with her family.
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I am not asking for life. She séntenced Dyian
to death, and she sentenced us to life without him. After
all of this is said and done she can just push all of this
back deep into her brain ang act like nothing has happened
after she serves her-time. Us, on the other hand, will
never forget July 19th, 2012. That is the date that is
burned into our memory.. We will forever live in this

nightmare. We have life without Dylan. Our hearts will

never be whole again.
I pray that you don't let Dylan's life mean
nothing by giving her less than ten years incarceration.

No parent wants to hear that their child's life was only

-~ WOTth-three-or—five years: S S

I don't want any family to go through the pain

“that Dylan's family and friends and community have gone

through. Everybody says that I've been strong through
this whole thing. I do what I have to do for my family.
I;try and stay Strong for them. I don't want my husband

and my other son to try and have to take—care—ofmeor

20

21

22

23

24

25

worry aboutme-——F ve—just—been cOplﬁg these last over
three years. 1It's hard eévery day. I do my crying at
night. I do my crying when I'm by myself just to release
some of the stress that T go through.

And all of this could have been prevented if

Heather Schmidt didn't sit in the bar that day and then

17
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1 choose to get behind the wheel. She still gets to see her {ﬁ%
2 family. I can only see Dylan not even in my dreams,
3 because he hasn't even come to me in my dreams. I can
4 look at this box.
5 You never think you're going to bury your child.
6 We were not prepared. My sister-in-law Tami and my
7 brother-in-law Steve were pretty much the ones that did
8 the whole funeral, because I could not function. We ended
9 up having him cremated because we had no plot. We had
10 nothing. We thought Dylan's future, he had his whole
11 future ahead of him.
12 And I ask that you take into consideration he
13- was-only 18 when he was killed. She was 37. ‘She should '%;f‘
14 have had more responsibilities. She was at the bar, not =
15 home with her children. He was on his way to work in the
16 afternoon, being a responsible young adult who had his
17 ‘whole future ahead of him. )
18|  Thank you :
19 THE COURT:  Any other statements?
20 MRT—SNIDERT I don't believe so.
21 THE COURT: Do you wish to make an argument?
22 MR. SNIDER: Yes. Thank you, Your Honor.
23 We've reviewed the presentence. And of course,
24 it descfibes the defendant as a 40-year-old mother of fiVel
25 éhildren. We've heard that she's a de facto mother to . {f
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more. The presentence describes her as having a good
employmenE hiétory. The Court has the e-mail from a
supervisor, i believe, at her place of employment.

I want to thank the Thornes and their extended
family for acquainting the Court with who Dylan was and
what he meant to his family and what he meant to his
friends and to his community. The Court now has a better
sense of what this defendant took forever from Dylan's
community. But we can't fully grasp what the Thornes and
their community have gone thréugh.

The presentence describes the defendant speaking

to the agent as though she understands as a mother what

she has taken from the Thornes-and-their commumity. But © |
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don't think anyone in this room can begin to fully grasp
what they've been through and what the defendant has put
them through. She's described as expressing remorse for

her actions and empathy for the Thornes. She's described

‘in’ the presentence as making no attempt to minimize her

crime and there is no minimizing her crime. She did take

20

the life of a responsible, loved—yourng—man-
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Looking back, this defendant spoke to the agent
about the choices she could have made. She could have
gone home after work. She could have left the bar

earlier, drank less. She could have gotten a ride home.

She didn't mention that she could have stopped anywhere

19
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WDQLMLQ_Qi_beerminfhernhandedfiﬂkingT*“That Concerns me.

between Waupaca and the crash site. I just, when I think
of the driving behavior described, I just can't imagine
why she didn't stop. And looking back, it's too late.
This defendant made very poor choices, and she killed
Dylan Thorne.

And in spite of killing this young man and in
spite of injuring herself severely, it's reported that she
hasn't stopped drinking. It's reported in the
presentence, and family and friends who loved and miss
Dylan have had to experience that firsthénd in public.

And I can't imagine what anyone who has been going through

what they have felt when they saw her at a bar with a

P

It suggests perhaps a lack of sensitivity at the very
least. It suggests perhaps an ongoing danger to the
public.

But most importantly, it suggests that the

‘defendant néeds to be punished for kiiiing Dylan Thorne.

Society can not tolerate and rightly expects punishment

20
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for those who drive drunk and ki d——hen recommending a
prison sen£ence the agent_wrote, ”Ail other sentences seen
insufficient.” And in a way, no sentehce is sufficient
when a life is taken.

This defendant told the agent she and her

co-workers went to double bubble, two for one, but she

20
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apparently had no exit strategy. She then chose to stay
at the bar for hours and take that next drink and that
next drink, and then she chose to drive at over twice the

legal BAC, and she killed Dylan Thorne.

As I éay, no sentence the Court imposes today
can really salve the.hurt, the injury. But the State
would recommend a sentence of 15 years imprisonment with
five years of initial confinement and ten years of
extended supervision.

This Court's been through too many occasions
like this. ~But having been through it, I am confident

that you will impose extended supervision conditions that
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~will maximize protection of the-public. I would-

specifically request that the Court order restitution as
submitted and that the Court order costs. I'm aware that
courts are not taxing costs of service of law enforcement

witnesses, but I would ask that costs of service of

non-law enforcement witnesses be taxed. I'd ask that the

Court order su

eesT Certainly reéquire absolute

22

23

24

25

SOPbTriety. No taverns.

I'm concerned that the defendant is pPrescribed a
very powerful narcotic. 1I'd ask that the Court order that
if, in fact, that continues she take that only as
prescribed, that she limit herself to one pharmacy and

that she advise her agent of any health care or

21
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prescriptions within 48 hours.

Thank you.

THE COURT: Mr. Nielsen.

MR, NIELSEN: Before I go through the,prepafed
comments I have, Judge, I just sort of want to preface
what I'm going to say with this. The impact of this case
on my client and her family aﬁd friends is not but a drop
in the bucket compared to the impact on the Thornes. You
know, I know that. My client absolutely knows that. Her
family and friends know that. So, if through the commenﬁs
I make T talk about how this case has impacted Heather,

the feelings that she has from this situation or her

family's impact, in No_way-—are-we-trying—to—compars oF
y Y D
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measure impacts. Like I said, the Thornes have had to
suffer I suspect the worst feeling in the world. If it's
not it's got to be right at the top. And so I don't want

the comments to be construed as though my client has

~suffered” in aﬁY'waypthaE'suéVéﬁ'Compéfébiério, in

particular, Mr. and Mrs. Thorne, Dylan's parents. But as

290

we know, the law requires the Court teo take—everything
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into consideration. So, these things need to be
discussed. Even if they're uncomfortable, it's not én
effort to compare. It's just an effort to convey.

To state the obvious, this was a very, very

terribly tragic day. July 19th, 2012, was, as is today.

22
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Nebody wanted this day to happen. Nobody wanﬁed

July 19th, 2012, to happen either. Certainly not the
Thorne fahily. Certainly not Dylan. Certainly not
Heather. Certainly not her family and friends. Bﬁt it
happened.

And the description in the PST that Heather gave
to the PSI writer T thought was very honest and very
candid and very insightful. We so routinely see in
non-death OWI cases drivers say, "I've had two." It's
sort of a point of chuckling at this point. I think
everybody says that. Heather said that when she was

interviewed by the police for the first time in the
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: hospital—inguly 6f 2017, - But she's, of course, bright

enough and smart enough to understand that while that
might be all that she recalls having, she clearly had
more. And she doesn't try to suggest that, you know, some
crazy idea that she only had two, anq/"I hayernori&ea how

I got so drunk.” She was there. She was there for hours.

She was there with Co=workers—From my urnderstanding a
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co wurk;L of—hers—was, T think, switching positions within
the foundry, and they were kind of going to the bar to
celebrate or whatnot. And things got way out of hand and
way out of éontrol, and Heather knows that. T mean, she's
smart enough to realize that she didn't just have two,

even if that's alil that she tan remember.

23




10 ¢

11

12

-13

The fact that she can look back and think about /7

all the other choices that were availéble to her that day
other than the choice that she made, I think is also a
rare piece of insight, at least rare in my experiencesf
Because I think a lot of times OWI offenders, in

particular the repeat OWI offenders, don't really think of

that. They don't realize that even after the fact.
So, the facts of the case are terribly
egregious. There's no way'around it. There's nothiﬁg
that I can say or that Heather can say that's going to
change that. But she has a level of insight and

understanding that I think is rare and unique and speaks

(A

volumes,. I think,—abeut-her—chance of maintaining a lawful
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g

existence for the rest of her 1ife.

But when trying to really evaluate the gravity
of this offense, you know, I have struggled a little bit
with trying to assess it because of the odd sentencing |
structure that the state of Wisconsin has for OWls. It

everything on July 19th, 2012, had been the same—but—For

20

the fact, just us-d-ng—seme—of—the—Ccomments TTom the
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Thornes, Dylan's aunt and mother, if Dylan had gone to the
family retreat in Hayward and everything was the same and
my client crossed the center line and was arrested that
day for OWI, it was her first offense. What would have

happened, Judge? We know she would have gdtten a

24



citation. Her license would Have been revoked for seven
months. She would have gotten a fine. Nothing else.

But what changes this from a citation, an
ordinance violation to a homicide conviction, a potential
imprisonment in the Wisconsin state prison system, is the

fact that somebody was on the other side of the center

line when Heather crossed it. That's terrible. I mean,
there's no word to put to it but terrible luck for
everybody. But more importantly for Dylan. It was just
tragic luck.

But when you're trying to assess, in my opinion,

the gravity of the offense we routinely get into a
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situation where we 're results orientated. I mean, what
happens dictates the punishment one gets imposed. But
really, in my opinion, when we're trying to assess the
gravity-of the offense we need to look at the actual
behavior. Consequences or results a;gwimpoptantﬁbbutrthey

shouldn't control.

At the end of the day; Heather's beRavior on
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9thr; 4014, 1s behavior that unfortunately is all too

[RE)

Fudy
common and all too accepted in our community and in our
state, going to the bar after work, drinking to excess and
driving home, or maybe for the younger crowd going out to
the bar or nightclub or whatever drinking until bar close

and, you know, playing rock, paper, scissors about who

25
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drives home. When you look at the terrible decisions that 7
{
Heather made on July 19th and the poor behavior that she's T
exhibited, it's unfortunately all too common and in my |
opinion accepted within the state of Wisconsin. T can't
count how many times I've seen people or been a part of
conversations or dialogs where people are online looking
at people who tragically fail field'sobriety tests to the
point that they're falling over or vomiting on the
officer's shoes. And everybody laughs and it's funny or
cute. It's not funny. It's not cute. That just
exacerbates this problem which is acceptance of drinking
and driving. And unfortunately, Heather lives in these

communities..She-grew up-in-this state.  She Grew Up, you

18]
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know, in-a situation where that behavior is fine. 1It's
okay to drink and drive. Just don't get caught. And if
you get caught, well there's a small price to pay. And

except for these tragic situations where it's not just

crossing the center line, Eérrecting and going home and

getting a ticket, it's a kid dying.
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80, it's hard when—you reallysort of analyze
Heather's behavior, which you have to do in:trying to
assess how grave it really was when at the end of the day,
unfortunately, her behavior on July 19th, 2012, is
behavior that I dare to venture a guess that a fair amount

of us in this courtroom has done in the past and
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unfortunately will continue, and unfortunately and sadly.
50, while her behavior was unlawful, her behavior was
unfortunate, tragic and sad, it's not behavior that's out
of the ordinary, unfortunately, Judge.

An additional problem when we have these OWI
homicide cases is the randomness of it all. When I look
back doing sort of my preparation for today I looked back
at some older OWI homicide cases in the communities that
we live in and the county we live in, and you know,
victims' age ranges run the gamut from unfortunately
18-year-old Dylan to unforfunately elderly men. And

that's just the randomness of it all. Heather didn't pick

- —to kil -Dylan-on-July ISth;” 20127 T It's random. It just

happened. And I don't know if that makes it any more
grave or not. I don't think it does, because Heather
didn't do anything to pick Dylan. Would this have been
less grave if Dylan was a sixty-year-old male? I don'tr
think so. It is what it is. Thé impéct éﬁrthe family has

been great, of course. And age has that effeet—ontow
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old someene—is+——But—whenmrwe'rs trying to assess how grave
the crime actually is, you know, it's really hard, to me
at least, to put a lot of stock or consideration into
Dylan's age only because Heather didn't pick Dylan. It
was random. It could have been a 50-year-old mother. It

could have been a 75-year-old grandma. So, the gravity of

27




the offense, it is whatever the Court thinks it is. Aand T {r<;
don't know if it shifts at all dependent upon who the -
victim is.

Drinking and driving, as I've said, is a
significant problem. And I dén’t have the answer. I'nm
not pretending that I do. But much like the war on drugs
for the last 30 some years, in my opinion you can't
incarcerate your way out of this problem. You need to
educate. You need to teach from as early as we can when
kids are getting ready to take their driver's test.
There's no circumstance I can think of where there's too

much education on this topic. But incarceration,
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“incarcerating all of these people isn't simply going to

solve the problem, We know that. We have to consider
education. We have to. &nd I think there's a push and a

movement to do that. In fact, there's an article in the

Post-Crescent today. It was entitled something about

» repeat drunk drivers are a hazard to the community. I

think the education—is Starting to filter out more and
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more heavily tTo educate people in the dangers of drinking
and driving, whether it's after work, after a night with
your buddies.

Shortly, I shouldn't say shortly, after the
crash on July 19th, Heather went and sought and obtained

an assessment for her alcochol use. That information was
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discussed to some degree in the PSI. And the diagnosis
that the assessor had come up with was that she suffered
from alcohol abusé. It might be the most obvious
diagnosis, but she wasn't diagnosed or defined as an
alcoholic or suffering from alcoholism. She completed a
six-week intensive out-patient program.as recommended by
the assessor. The PSI writer expresses some frustration
or concern that Heather failed to complete the aftef care
component of that treatment. Heather reports to me that
it's because>insurance stopped paying. for it, which is an
all too familiar refrain from clients. In talking to her

about the after care program she said it wasn't doing a

whole heck of a lot for her anyway, because she was
sitting there with people who have been convicted of five,
six times of OWIs which she hasn't. She has no plans on

continuing to drink and drive. Or with individuals

suffering from substance abuse, marijuana, cocaine, maybe

heroin. T doubt back then it was as huge as it is now.

So, she wasn't really gatheringa whele—tot—of
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informaticn, because the peers in these groups weren't
people that were similarly situated to hef.

But there is, of course, a significant concern
raised by the PSI writer, raised by Attorney Snider, thét
Heather continues to drink. You,kﬁow, I would acknowledge

on the surface that looks like a very bad decision, and

29




maybe it's not the best.decision. But I don't know how
much ultimately it matters for purposes of today. There
was reference by Attorney Snider about my client drinking
in public. I can't remember his exact words, but
something to the fact that to the point that some of the
Thorne family and friends, some of Dylan's family and
friends witnessed this. I just want to give some context
to the Court about that. 1In December of 2013 my client
went to Silver Lake Lanes in Scandinavia as part of a work
Christmas party. She was there. She had a couple beers.
She had a driver. Someone drove her to and from. That's

the only event that I'm aware of where she's been

I

witniesséd Dy the Thorne family and friends directly
drinking. But she admits in the PSI to the PSI writer
that she has continued to use alcoho;. I commend her for
her honesty to the PSI writer. I think a lot of people

may have tried to, again, minimize or deflect that issue.

But she acknowledged it and admitted it.

You know,—it's—a—tittte bit, T tirink & Tittle
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bit—disingenuous and concerning that the State makes a big
deal about it. Because'when Heather appeared at her
initial appearance on March 14th, 2014, there was no
request for an absolute sobriety requirement. This case
has been pending now for, give or take, 18 months.

There's never been a request to modify the conditions of
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the signature bond. So, I'm not saying it's not
concerning. But the State's had the opportunity for the
last year and a half to try to seek a court order
preventing Heather from drinking, and they haven't. So,
you know, I'm not saying it's not a concern. I'm just
saying I think it's a little unfair for the State at this
point to suggest that it puts the community in peril or
danger when it had all this opportunity to try to limit
that. |

When, gosh, I think I was a brand new attorney
appearing in front of a now retired judge in Wood County,

T had a client whose name I still remember being sentenced

14

15

16

17

- 18

19

 have to drive whiie>d£uﬁk. Drinking doesn't mean you have

for-an-OWI—fourth:—-And-I-remember preaching on and on and
on how my client was an alcoholic and she's trying, you
know, kind of giving a standard speech in that situation.
And Judge Zappen stopped me in my tracks and taught me a

very quick lesson that being an alcoholic doesn't mean you

_
iving

to drive while drunk, that what makes drinking and dr

20
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>
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makes—drinking—anddriving 1TTegal is not
the drinking. 1It's the driving after drinking. And it
was a quick lesson that he had taught me that I've taken
with me in all theselyears and still remember. I still
remember that back and forth with him on that.

And that's, you know, that's the issue, Judge.
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It's not just whether or not Heather is cont;nuing to
drink, because the problem with drinking and driving isn't
so much--isn't just the drinking. It's the terrible
decisions one makes after drinking. But what, you know,
what wé try to teach young people who are drinking is it's
okay to drink. It's okay to go to a bar and drink, but
you have to come up with a plan before you start drinking.
Howrare you getting home? Who's driving you home? How
are you getting home or wherever you're going after the
bar safely without driving under the influence?

And that's what Heather has done, Judge. Every

situation where she's consumed alcohol has either been at

her house pursuant to a.family gathering,-or-if-itls-—been——|
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away from her house, at another family member's home or
Silver Lake Lanes or elsewhere she's always had a driver
there. She's always had a driver back. So, while I get
the sort of initial response that it's bad form, she's
taking the stéps to make betfer decisions much like the

decisions she wished she had taken on July 19th which she

ooy

mentions to the PSI writer.

21

22

23

24

25

So, the question that I have asked my client and
asked many of my clients is sort bf, "Who are you? Who is
Heather Schmidt?" Heather Schmidt is the person that
killed Dylan Thorne on July 19th, 2012. That's part of

who she is. Undoubtedly, that's part of who she is. But
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that day, that block of time, that five, six-hour block of
time is just a sliver in the life of Heather, who presents
herself today here as a 40-year-old woman. So, we can't
just say that is who she is. That's all that she is, and
lock her up and throw away the key. We have to know who
she is. |

some of this has been talked about, but I feel
it's important to discuss. She's a mother of five
biological children. She's essentially raised those
children as a single mother with very limited involvement
from the respective fathers. I've met with the two adult

girls I think a couple of times. They seem well adjusted
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and-well-ontheir wayto beconing good, law-abiding women
in their communities.

As Ms. Reilerson testified, Heather has
essentially become the mother figure to two non-biological
children. The reason I had Sondra testify about that
7inf5rmétion is twé;fbidpr Oﬁe, it Wééﬁ‘t;inhtﬁérPéi; It

wasn't anywhere else The Court didn't have that

Stk
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informationr—And—T felt it would bHe more cbmpelling and
powerful, in all honesty, to hear from M.J.'s grandma.
And I think Heather's decision and willingness to mother
these two non-biological Children the way that she has
speaks volumes for her character, because I don't know of

a lot of people that would necessarily do that.

33




10

11

12

l.._l
.

14
15
16

17

18

19

I.could have had one of her childreﬁ_speak on
her behalf today, and I know they would have said that
she's a great mother. And that's good. But being a great
mother, a great father, great parent isn't all that
exciting. We're supposed to be good parents. We're
supposed to be good at that. Your children are supposed
to love you, and you're supposed to be good to them. But
ith these unique situations that present themselves in
life that really test the real character of a person. And
it may have been easy, so to speak, for Heather to mother

M.J. when she was in a relationship with M.J.'s father.

It's not so easy, in my opinion, to maintain that

-eommitment—to M. I even when she"s not with M.J.'s father.

She continues to parent M.J., and has probably had a
life-changing impact on M.J. according to Ms. Reierson’s

testimony.

And that speaks volumes of who Heather is.

She's ﬁaévjﬁst the person that drove drunk and killed

Dylan. She's a mother of five wonderful ehildren—She's

o
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mothering—two—childremr—that—aren't hers, even though she
has.no legal reguirement but, I mean, no relationship-type
requirement to these children. That speaks volumes of who
she is.

She's a hard worker, which matters when trying

to decide her character and who she is. That e-mail
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details that. Also, thfough the preparation process I've
had interviews and met with two of Heather's co-workers,
both coincidentally happen to be younger women who were
hired after Heather was hired at the foundry. And talking
to them was insightful and enlightening, because they
spoke glowingly of Heather. They were well aware of
what's going on, fhey knew that Heather had driven drunk
and killed Dylan. But these were woman that, when they
were hired as new hires, part of the training process was
to be mentored and taught and trained by Heather in how to
do their jobs. And they spoke well of her ability to

teach them and communicate to them and help them. And I

thinkwthatisﬂsignificantf”“““’"“ﬂ"""'”
What's significant to me is to the point that it

impacted one of the aspects of what would ultimately be

our recommendation today, Judge, the issue of remorse and

empathy and sorrow has come up. I don't think that it has

‘been presented that énybddy believes to. the contrary about

Heather that she is remorseful.. T can't put—inte—words

20

21
22
23
24

25

Maybe—she camr here when she has the
opportunity to speak.

.And I would agree with Attorney Snider. I mean,
if Heather, the PSI writer said, anybody else said that "T

can understand where Mr. and Mrs. Thorne come from",

nobody can. I can't. Nobody can. Only people that have
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lost younger childrén in an OWI accident can have any
understanding what Mr. or Mrs. Thorne are going through.
That's it. But she's trying to feel the right thing.
She's trying, Judge. And there's no way she's ever going
to feelrexactly how they feel.

And this hasn't been suggested, so I'm not
saying anybody suggested it, but I want to talk about
this. I mean commonly defendants express remorse at the
time of sentencing, which of course is always a nice
convenient time to express remorse. But Heather's remorse
and sorrow and sadness from this whole event has been in

place since this happened. I know that in talking to her

”l*kngwfthatmSheLsﬁwantSWtcmcomméﬁt”aﬁ“fﬁig“é"iiEgig“giﬁj”“m”” T

so I don't want to belabor it. But in meeting with
Heather in preparation for today she brought to my
aftention that she had sent a letter, an apology letter,
to Mr. and Mrs. Thorne, and I didn't know that. I never 1

heard that. Never saw that in any of the discovery, of

course, and when I read the victim impact-statemernts
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there'ls neo—suggestion—tothat: SO0, 1t caught me
completely off guard. And Heather indicated to me that
she still had a copy of that letter at home. I said,
"Okay. Well, e-mail it to me.™" So, that night she
scanned and e-mailed it to me. What I realize or what she

realizes, she didn't have an actual copy of the letter
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because it was handwritten. But she had- the draft of the

letter that had some scribbling in it that she rewrote
without the scribbling and sent it. I don't know if

Mr. and Mrs. Thorne ever got it. There's no suggestion
that they have. I don't know ultimately how much it
matters, only because this helps exemplify to the Court
that this sadness and. sorrow and remorse isn't being
presented to the Court today because she wants you to be
lenient with her, because that's really how she feels.

I'm going to read this letter. She doesn't know
exactly when she sent it, because the draft isn't dated..
Her recollection it would have been late 2012, early 2013.
letter by Heather and it says, "Dear Mr. and Mrs. Thorne
and Family, I don't know where to begin to express how
sorry I am for the pain I have caused you and your family.
I have five children of my own that range from three years
fox18 yeéié bld énd ééﬁﬂot ;haginé ho&ri‘ﬁéuld make it

through if one of them was taken fromme because—of

23

24

25

SOmevnEe €1se's actions. I am 50 sorry for what I have
done. I pray for forgiveness every day. I don't expect
to be forgiven, nor do I deserve to be forgiven for all
the pain and suffering I've caused you and your family.
I'll never be able to find the words to express the pain

and sorrow that I feel for you and your family and for
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~-—And-I-just-asked-them; you know, if they've learned

what I have done. It should have been me.that died that
day, not Dylan."

S0, this is a letter authored by Heather within
months of her killing Dylan and long before a criminal
complaint was filed, long before September 30th, 2015.
This has impacted Heather. And again, I'm not trying to
say it even comes close to level with Mr, and-MrS. Thorne
and family and friends about the effect it has. But as
mueh as it can, when I've met with the two older daughters
of Heather, you know, I've asked them and I met with them
individually. i didn't meet with them collectively. I

definitely didn't meet with them with Heather in the room.

anything. "Heather's children, have you learned anythibg?
Has this impacted you?" Aand they both expressed,
"Absolutely, of course it has." I believe Sabrina is 21.

I think Ashley is 20. And I have the name of the others

I forgot the name of the others. There s five of them.

But, I mean, they're in their years—ef—drinking—T mean
r g r

+h.
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iftheylre—going to consume alcohol this is kind of the
time they're going to do it, and they have learned that
they need to come up with a plan of attack. As Attorney
Snider said, an exit plan if they're going to drink. So,
Heather's situation has impacted her children already in a

very positive way.
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The last point I want to make before moving on
to our recommendation, Judge, is this. One of the factors
the Court has to consider is protection of the community,
I don't view Heather as an ongoing threat to the
community. Hér criminal record doesn't suggest that.

Her behavior and the time that's passed between July 19th,
2012, and today hasn't exhibited that.

But what I would say, Judge, is that the
community does need to be protected from drunk drivers.
There's no doubt about that. But as we sit here today,
moving forward, I don't think Heather poses a significant

or even a slight risk to the community. And history is

~what-we-can-look-at-to try to make those determinations,

and sbe's 40. The criminal record that's discussed in the
PST is, I mean, I don't want to say insignificant, but not
all that impressive is thé best way I can characterize it.
And she's a single mother, and she's fully employed, and

Shé*s'stéﬁié}ﬂiéb, iwdthtx£hihk”she pséés a fiék,rgﬁtr |

drunk drivers do. And as I've said before, to solwve this
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problem—of ar;nking and—driving 15 5est done Through
education and not incarceration.

Which moves me to our recommendation, Judge.
What we're asking the Court to do today is impose a prison
sentence for Heather, but stay execution of that sentence,

placing Heather on probation for a period of eight years.
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| - —January-26th; which is one 6f het daughters' birthday.

As conditions of probation, other than those that have
been discussed in the PSI and those that have been
discussed by the State, we're recommending the following.
We're recommending ten months of conditional jail time
commencing today with Huber release privileges.

The reason I came up with ten months, Judge, as -
opposed to maybe an easy simple 12 months, which of course
is the maximum period of incarcerétion that one can be
ordered to serve as a condition of probation, is for this
reason. There arerseven days throughout the year that I
think Heather should be ordered to serve in jail

notwithstanding the ten months of conditional jail time.

February 10th, which was Dylan's birthday. March 27th,
which is her other daughter's birthday. April 9th, which
is her son's birthday. May 2lst, another daughter's

birthday. July 19th, the obvious anniversary of this

cfésh. And September 18th, the other daughter's birthday.

Those are seven days that I think she sheuwld haveto—serve—
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25

the—entirety im jail on over the course of the eight years
on probation. Seven times eight is 56. Essentially, two
months added to the ten that she's already serving, we're
at a year. |

As everybody has commented and as everybody

knows and understands there's never a way that Heather is
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going to understand what it's like to lose a child unless
she's ever the unfortunate--ends up being in the
unfértunate situation the Thornes are. But taking her
away from her children on her children's birthdays, again,
a drop in the bucket. I know Heather knows that. But
it's a way to remind her over the course of probation what
she has caused, what the Thornes have lost.

And lastly, as an additional condition, Judge,
I'm asking that the Court somehow étructure a condition
that fequires Heather twice a year to meet with, in some
organized setting, young teenage or young adults to
discuss the dangers of drinking and driving. I hadn't
thought-of-this condition until T met with These twe
co-workers about two weeks ago, and it really resonated
with me that Heather has this ability to teach and mentor
and help the young people in situations. She's better

served, in my opinion, to help move the issue, because the

issue here, Judge, is how do we stop drinking and driving.

How do we stop it?
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Fre—Thorme family, 1 know, are trying their
damndést to do that from their perspective in various
ways. And that's great. That's awesome. That's
wonderful. But we shouldn't forget or lose sight of the
fact that Heather can help push this cause too. Heather

can help push this issue. She's bright, articulate,
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1) intelligent. She has a history of mentoring and teaching T
2 younger people how to do things.r She's setting an example |
3 for her children.‘ She's setting examples for her
4 co—wofkers, and I think she can set an example for others.
5 Because at the end of the day can Heather solve this
6 problem? Absolutely not. But I think if she's speaking
7 to these young adults about the behaviors of drinking and
8 driving she'll connect. Something will. She'll reach
5 even if it's only one person, Judge. That's better than
10 no people. But my guess, based on the way as reflected,
11 Heather will reach and connect with a lot of people and
12 push this issue forward, combating the dangers of drinking
w3 g T AFAVITG - B ‘
S
14 1. So, for those reasons, Judge, taking all the
15 sentencing criteria into consideration, we think the Court
16 should follow our recommendation.
17 THE COURT: Ms. Schmidt, any?hi?gmngﬁyiégﬂngu#w;: N
mingzurqAwgéildéhé‘Egﬁzé’gégggéuiwéronounce sentence?
19 THE-PEFENDANT+—Yeah— T ust want 5 FaIT
20 Pylan's Tamily and friends how sorry I am for everything
21 you had to go throﬁgh for the last three years and the
22 rest of your life. You won't have birthdays and holidays,
23 and I've taken that from you. 2And I was in the hospital
24 1 for probably about a week before T got an honest answer
25 what had happened that day. And I was never so horrified (M:
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1 in my life. BAnd it Qas because it was sémething I had
2 done. And when I was released I looked DYlan'up on
3 Facebook, because I wanted to know who he was, not just a
4 name. And I can never give that back to any of you. And
5 | I don't expect forgiveness from anyone. I can't even give
6 it to myself. But I will think of Dylan, and my guilt
7 will carry with me for the rest of my life. I'm so sorry.
8 THE COURT: This is a tragic case. These are
9 among the most difficult cases for the courts to handle.
10 And the courts have recognized the consequences of drunk
11 driving for years. Back in 1986, Justice Louis Ceci of
12 the Wisconsin Supreme Court noted that drunk driving is
w13 oo dndiseriminate—inthe personal tragedy of death, injury N
14 and suffering it levies on its victims. It may transform
15 an innocent user of a highway-into a victim at any time
16 with no advance notice and no opportunity to be heard. It
17 is a tragedy where the intoxicated driver and the vict;m
18  are offen‘unwitfihéiy thé éémeﬂéé£$on. Ifris also a
19 scourge on society. Drunk_dxiuing—exae%s—a—heavy'tol1 in
20 terms—of—dnereased—heaith Care and insurance costs,
21 diminished economic resources and lost worker_
22 proauctivity. It is an affliction which produces no
23 offsetting human or economic benefits., It engenders no
24 positive human or economic incentive. It destroys and
25 demoralizes personal lives and shocks society's
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conscience. It has no legitimate place in our society. 611'

In Wisconsin, though, we are somewhat

schizophrenic in the way we deal with drunk driving

offenses. Certainly, the Wisconsin culture has a
tradition of the bar, the fémily get-together, all of
which alcohol consumption takes place. Clearly,
consumptibn of alcohol is legal and condoned by the vast
majority of Wisconsin residents.

' However, the problem arises when someone who's
consumed alcohol gets behind the wheel and drives a motor
vehicle. The legislature has struggled with this problem

and has increasingly exacted more severe penalties over

thewyearsfwwﬂoweVéIT*Wisconsin is still the only state in

the nation where a first offense operating while under the

influence of an intoxicant 1is not a criminal offense.

But for Ms. Schmidt's striking Dylan's vehicle

on this occasion, had the police stopped her in response

fdmfhéné;iié that they had been receiving that she was

crossing the center line she weuld have—=atthat time faced

()
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the—$754-50 forfetture,an eight-month revocation of
license, requirement that she operate vehicles equipped
with an ignition interlock device for a period of one year
and that she submit to and comply with alcohol assessment.
But for the crash here, this case would have been long

disposed of and that would have been the penalty.
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So, hhen a court is asked to sentence on these
kinds of cases it is very difficult. The courts are
directed to look at a number of factors and go through an

~analysis when making a sentencing decision.

This Court has a personal significant concern
about the consequences of driving while under the
influence of intoxicants. Shortly after taking the bench
I created the Waupaca County Victim Offender Impact Panel
that is still being run to this day. I don't know.if it
helps. I can only pray that it does. But what we do need
as a soclety is to recognize that driving after consuming

alcohol is the same as getting behind a gun after

~——eoensumingalcoholr ~You 168e an ability to control it and

adverse and significant consequences can fdllow. As T
indicated, the legislature has over the years consistently
increased the penalty, including now the consequences of a
Class D felony for which Ms. Schmidt is now facing

sentencing.

I've had the benefit of argquments—of Counsel,
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the-presentence—writer's recommendation, had the benefit

of hearing orally the stories of Dylan's aunt and his
mother. 1I've had the benefit of the written victinm impact
statements that had been made. I've heard the benefit of
Ms., Reierson's testimony-today. And I believe all of

those reports and collateral sources just demonstrate the
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true tragedy of this situation.

I'm satisfied from the statement of Ms. Schmidt
that she recognizes the true tragedy of the situation, and
she seemed very sincere to the Court when she was
expressing her épologies today. In the presentence

investigation she indicated that she regrets getting in

that vehicle that day. "Using better judgment, it would

have never happened. I could have gone home after work.
I could have left earlier. I coﬁld have gotten a ride.
There's avwhole lot of things I could have done."

That's why this is such a tragic.case. There

are so many things that could have been done on that day

that-would have prévented us being here'today. I fhink
when Tami Thorne indicated there are no words that can

comfort from a loss of Dylan, that's absolutely true.

There's nothing that I can say today that, unfortunately,

is going to make Dylan's family and friends feel

~ better.

When Ms. Thorne—indicated—that we nesd to
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demonstrate that Dylan's Iife had worth, there's no
gquestion that Dylan's 1life had great worth. He was a
briéht young man on his way to school to study law
enforcement. His life was just beginning. It's tragic,
absolutely tragic, that just when his world was beginning

to start he was taken away. And there's no amount of
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money, no amount of prison, no amount of words that I can
say that's going to demonstrate his real value. His value
was infinite.

And I suspect if there were any sentence that
this Court could impose that would bring Dylan back today,
I'd do it. And from Ms. Schmidt's comments I think shg
would certainly agree. But unfortunately, that's not a
possibilify.

When a Court imposes a sentence the Court has to
look at a number of factors. Contrary to what many people
think, we don't just pick numbers out of the air. We are -

given guidelines and stricturesyby the statutes, by prior

“case law; and We have ‘To apply those to the facts that are

before the Court at the time of sentencing. The Court has
to consider the gravity of the offense, the protection of
the community, the need for punishment, the rehabilitation
needs of the defendant and general deterrence of gthe;

individuals as well as a whole host of secondary factors.

It's difficult to envisien—an offerrse that has
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mOTe gravity than an offense that results in the loss of
life. The strictures on fhe Court when considering
sentencing direct that the Court must consider probation
as the preferred and first choice if it's appropriate._ It
would appear to this Cburt that of all the other factors,

gravity of the offense is the one that causes perhaps the
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1 most difficult restriction on a probation sentence.in this ‘f?i
2 case. k
3 Ms. Schmidt has her five natural children plus
4 apparently two other children that she has become
5 emotionally résponsible for. She maintains steady
6 employment thfoughout most of her life. She is employed
7 at the Waupaca Foundry at the present time. She is in a
8 training position there. Her employer, certainly in the
9 report that I received today, views her as a very positive
10 contributor to the business. The presentence writer while
11 using COMPAS - and the Court is certainly aware that there
12 are some concerns about the utilization of the COMPAS in
e A3 ————sentencing decisions = basically Yeaches the decision that (*“.u
14 Ms. Schmidt's a véfy low risk to cause any trouble ever -
15 again, that she's a positive, basically, contributor to
16 her family and the community, that she lives a stable
17 lifestyle»and noted it is difficult to recommend a hard i
18| working single parent be sentenced to prison. But this
19 writer concluded that all other sentences—seem
20 asyEfi-erent
21 This Court, as I indicated, has the stricture
22 - that probation is to be the decision if the needs of
23 sentencing can be met. Clearly, protection of the public
24 ié important. The presentence writer thinks the risk is
25 low for any reoffense. I am concerned, frankly, by the
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stories that I hear she's consuming alcohol, although
there was no restriction on her utilization of alcohol
when Branch I set the original bond in this matter., I'm
told that she, if she does use alcohol, has altered the
drivers, and obviously that's the most important issue in
this Court's mind for protecting the public.

With regard to rehabilitation of the defendant,
the presentence investigation seems to indicate she's not
in need of much. Perhaps some counseling to deal with the
stressors she's feeling from the incident itself.

The deterrence of others. I would hope that no

matter what type of sentence this Court were to impose it

will-have some gensral deterrent effect. Wﬂgg‘people neéé
to understand and recognize is that anyone can get behind
the wheel after consuming alcohol and be sitting where
Ms. Schmidt is sitting today.

The majority of operating while gnde: the

influence homicides that occur in this state are not

committed by individuals with priorOWTs: Basically, it's
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a—First=time imdividual, whaich again is reflective 0of the
culture.of this state and perhaps the lack of recognition
of the seriousness of the consequences of drinking and
driving.

Certainly, because of the seriousness of the

conduct here, I think it is certainly appropriate to
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1 - impose a sentence to the state prison system of five {"*-
2 years, and five years of extended supervision. However, I ;
3 am going to stay that and place her on ten years of
4 probation, because I'm mandated to give her probation if I
5 think the needs of sentencing can be fulfilled by that
6 probation.
7 Thege‘s nothing I can do with any type of
8 sentence, I'm afraid, that's going to make the Thornes
9 feel better.' What I have to do is punish and protect the
10 public, and I think that probation can accomplish that.
11 As conditions of her probation I will direct
12 thaﬁ she pay the costs of the action, including
13— appropriate-restitution surcharges. I will direct ﬁhat ;;2 777777
14 she pay restitution in the amount of $11,419.7O to Timothy -
15 and EBlizabeth Thorne. I will direct that she pay the
16 costs of supervision. I will direct that during the ten
17 years she's on supervision that she not operg?gﬁgwmqio;ﬁr .
TR T yehicle unless a&tﬁéiléé& ég &é éghgy the Wisconsin
19 Department of Transportation Diwvisien—eofMotor Vehicles.
20 Outstde—ofthe conditions of-probation T will
21 [ revoke her driving privileges for a period of five years.
22 As a fﬁrther condition of probation I will direct that she
23 operate vehicles-equipped with ignition interlock devices.
24 That's the one way I can absolutely assure she's not going
25 to drive after consuming alcohol. | {;2
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Aé a further condition of probation, though, I
am going to direct that she not possess or consume any
alcohol. I am imposing an absolute sobriety reduirement.
I would hope that that's not going to be an issue, ma'am.
But for the next ten years you will not consume any
alcohol. You will not possess any illegal substance or
drug paraphernalia as defined iﬁ Chapter 961. You will
take prescription-medications only in a manner and method
as prescribed by a physician. You will obtain all
prescriptions from éne pharmacy. You will report any
change of prescriptions to your agent within 48 hours.

As a further condition of supervision I am going

to direct that at least twice anndélly you do sﬁme_ty;é of
education to the public of the consequences of driving
after consuming alcohol. I think Mr. Nielsen’s_suggestion
that it.be to the youth would be wise, but I'm not going
to restrict it to that. T will allowrygu to QOritbin;ther

form of participating in impact panels for impaired

drivers T will allow it—+e be—fﬁ%fiiiedfbyﬁputtlng an ad
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Inm—a lIocal paper indicating that, "I know the consequences
of drinking and driving. T killed someone.” T don't care
how you do it, but you do something to help educate peaple
of the consequences. As a further condition T will direct
that you participate in an impact panel for impaired

drivers.
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As a further condition of supervision I am going (?h

to require conditional jail time. I think to not impose
any would significantly and unduly depreciate the
seriousness of the‘conduct. This is the type of case
where it is very easy to send someone to prison, ma'am.
But for the decision that the legislature has decided
probation is appropriate in this case you would probably
have gone to prison. But when I weigh the various types
of these cases you fell on the probation side barely.

But I'm going to give you the maximum period of
confinement in the county jail as a condition of

probation, that being one year. I'm going to direct that
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el

~the last five weeks of that sentence be served each and
every Christmas Eve and Christmas Day for the next nine
years after you're released from your initial confinement.

I want and I believe it's necessary you suffer punishment.

There's nothing I can do that's ever going to adequagg;y_vw 7'

Wtdéél with the tragedy of this situation. But I think you

need to suffer at least—a littlebit— Andthe punishment

23
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Ts—those 18 days.

Additionally, on every February 10th, Dylan's
birthday, you are going to report to jail. And finally,
on July 19th of every year you are going to report to the
coﬁnty jail. Those days are going to be served Straight

time without any work release. The other roughly
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conviction relief either in this court or the Wisconsin

11 months you will be entitled to work release.

You should be aware, ma'am, you are a convicted
felon. You may not possess a firearm. Possession of a
firearm by you will be a felony offense that would expose
you to a fine and imprisonment. You may not exercise the
right to vote until such time as all of your civil rights
are restored. I think I neglected to tell you, but you do
have to provide a sample of biological material for DNA
purposes as well.

Do you have any questions about the sentence?:

THE DEFENDANT: No.

THE COURT: You do have a right to seek post

.

State Court of Appeals. To perfect the right, though, you
would need to file a notice of intent to seek relief
within 20 days of today's date. Mr. Nielsen will continue
toArepresent you for the next 20 days and agsigt“you ip!i
tﬁerpgoéésg; You Qill Eé ébiﬁg straight to jail right

now, ma'am
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17guess T should indicate for the record that I
have Mr. Snider's copies of the victim impact statements.
I'm going to direct that the clerk make copies again and
return them to his office just so we have a complete

record.

Anything else for today, counsel?
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MR. SNIDER: No, nothing here.
MR. NIELSEN: We do not.

THE COURT: We will recess then.

(Whereupon, the proceedings ended.
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